#### Interactions of thyroid hormone and FSH in the regulation of rat granulosa cell apoptosis

## Cheng Zhang<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Guoliang Xia<sup>1</sup>, Benjamin K. Tsang<sup>2, 3, 4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>State Key Laboratory for Agro-Biotechnology, College of Biological Science, China Agricultural University, Beijing 100193, Peoples' Republic of China, <sup>2</sup>Reproductive Biology Unit, Departments of Cellular and Molecular Medicine, and Obstetrics & Gynaecology, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada K1Y 4E9. <sup>3</sup>Chronic Disease Program, Ottawa Hospital Research Institute, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada, <sup>4</sup>World Class University (WCU) Biomodulation Major, Department of Agricultural Biotechnology, College of Agriculture and Life Sciences, Seoul National University, Seoul 151-921, Republic of Korea

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Abstract

2. Introduction

3. Materials and methods

3.1. Materials

- 3.2. Rat granulosa cell isolation and culture
- 3.3. Protein extraction and western blot analysis
- 3.4. RNA extraction, cDNA synthesis, and real-time PCR analysis

3.5. TUNEL

3.6. Statistical analysis

4. Results

- 4.1. The effect of FSH and T<sub>3</sub> on Fas and FasL protein and mRNA content
- 4.2. T<sub>3</sub> significantly increased FSH-induced Xiap content In Vitro
- 4.3. T<sub>3</sub> and FSH protected granulosa cells from ceramide-induced apoptosis

4.4. T<sub>3</sub> enhanced FSH-induced up-regulation of granulosa cell P-Akt content

4.5. T<sub>3</sub>-FSH interaction increased granulosa cell P-Src content

4.6. Src & PI-3K/Akt pathway is involved the regulation of Fas, FasL and Xiap by FSH and  $T_3$ 

5. Discussion

6. Acknowledgment

7. References

#### 1. ABSTRACT

Thyroid hormone (TH) is important for normal reproductive function. Our previous studies indicate that FSH increases preantral follicle growth in vitro, a response markedly enhanced by triiodothyronine  $(T_3)$ . However, the nature of this hormonal interaction is poorly understood. The objective of this study was to determine if and how  $T_3$ modulate FSH-induced expression and actions of granulosa cell intracellular survival and death intermediates. We investigated the possible involvement of Src and PI3K/Akt pathway in the regulation of granulosa cell survival. We demonstrated that, while ineffective alone (0.1-100 nM), T<sub>3</sub> markedly enhanced FSH (100 ng/ml)-induced granulosa cell phospho-Src and phospho-Akt contents and Xiap expression in vitro. The effects of T<sub>3</sub> were concentrationdependent, with maximal responses at 1.0 nM. FSH alone decreased Fas Ligand (FasL) content irrespective of the presence of T<sub>3</sub>. Co-treatment of cell with T<sub>3</sub> and FSH decreased Fas content, although neither hormone alone elicited a significant response. Taken together, the present study demonstrates that  $T_3$  potentiates the cell survival action of FSH through Src- and PI3K-mediated Xiap upregulation and decreased Fas and FasL expression.

#### 2. INTRODUCTION

Mammalian ovarian follicular development is a highly selective process. While the dominant follicle(s) eventually ovulates, the majority of the follicles undergo atresia, a process involving granulosa cell apoptosis (1-6). The preantral-early antral follicle transition is the penultimate stage of follicular development in terms of gonadotropin dependence and follicle destiny (growth versus atresia). The survival of granulosa cells in follicles that escape atresia and selected to ovulate in each reproductive cycle may occur as a consequence of upregulation of the survival factors and/or removal of the cell death inducers. Apoptosis could be triggered by the removal of survival factors and/or stimulation by cytotoxic factors (4).

FSH increases follicle development and suppresses atresia by increasing granulosa cell mitotic activity and inhibiting apoptosis (5, 7). Thyroid hormone is important for normal reproductive function and dysregulation of TH support is associated with reproductive disorders, including impaired follicular development. Although hypothyroidism markedly hampered the follicle development, TH significantly improve ovarian condition, especially in the presence of gonadotropin (8, 9). In our previous study, FSH increases preantral follicle growth in vitro, a response markedly enhanced by  $T_3$  (10). However, the mechanisms involved are not fully understood.

Xiap, a member of inhibitor of apoptosis protein family, inhibits caspases at both the initiation phase (caspase-9) and the execution phase (caspase-3 and 7) of apoptosis (11, 12). Xiap is highly expressed in healthy but not atretic follicles (13). Rat granulosa cell Xiap expression is upregulated by gonadotropin and suppressed during induction of apoptosis (14, 15). In contrast, Fas antigen (APO-1, CD95), a type I transmembranous glycoprotein belonging to the TNF/nerve growth factor receptor family (1), is expressed abundantly and mediates apoptosis in a variety of cells (2, 16, 17). Fas induces apoptosis when activated by Fas ligand (FasL) (18), a type II membrane protein processed to a soluble form by a metalloproteinase (19). Fas and FasL are detected in the granulosa cells and are associated with follicular atresia (20-28). Induction of apoptosis through the Fas/FasL system involves activation of a caspase 8-mediated cascade.

It has been demonstrated that gonadotropic stimulation down-regulates both Fas and FasL expression and increases Xiap content in rat granulosa cells (21). The latter response is mediated through PI3K/Akt pathway (29), which is critical for the maintenance of normal follicular growth and development (30). Moreover,  $T_3$  decreases Fas and FasL expression and caspase-3 activation, suppressed apoptosis in early plancental extravillous trophoblasts (EVTs) (31).

Although TH are well known for their classic genomic effects which are mediated by their receptors (TR), recent studies has led to increased interest on their nongenomic actions. Evidence indicates that TH exerts important nongenomic effects (32) resulting from their binding to plasma membrane, cytoplasm or mitochondrial receptors that subsequent lead to rapid cellular regulation, such as modulation of plasma membrane ion channels (33) and  $\alpha\nu\beta3$  integrin-mediated extracellular signal-regulated/mitogen activated kinases (ERK/MAPK) pathways (32) and activation of protein kinase C $\alpha$  (32) and protein kinase C $\delta$  (34), PI3K and Akt (32, 35).

Although activation of the PI3K/Akt pathway by  $T_3$  is believed to be important for cell proliferation, differentiation and suppression of apoptosis in a variety of cell systems (36-38), whether these pathways are indeed regulated in granulosa cells by the actions and interactions of FSH and  $T_3$  and their importance in promoting preantral follicle growth, is not known. Src is a member of non-receptor tyrosine kinases family, which has been shown to be required for PI3K activation by estrogen and androgen receptors (39, 40). p85 $\alpha$  (subunit of PI3K) is a substrate of Src family kinases (41). It has also been reported that activation of Src by TH is required for PI3K /Akt - mediated in neuronal survival (36).

In the present study, we have examined the hypothesis that TH interacts with FSH in promoting ovarian preantral follicle growth by modulation of Fas, FasL and Xiap content and preventing granulosa cell apoptosis, a process involving Src activation and mediated by the PI3K/Akt pathway. We have demonstrated for the first time that FSH and  $T_3$  inhibit granulosa cell apoptosis by down-regulating the Fas/FasL pathway and increasing cellular Xiap content. These responses appeared to be mediated by Src activation of the PI3K/Akt pathway.

## **3. MATERIALS AND METHODS**

## 3.1. Materials

Culture media were purchased from Gibco Bethesda Research Laboratories (Burlington, ON, Canada). 3,3',5-Triiodo-L-thyronine, HEPES, BSA, bovine insulin and Tween 20 were obtained from Sigma Chemical Co. (St. Louis, MO). Recombinant human FSH was obtained from the National Hormone and Peptide Program, Harbor-UCLA Medical Center (Torrance, CA). The 6-well plate was product of Becton Dickinson (Becton Dickinson Labware, USA). The enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) detection kit and Hoechst 33258 were obtained from Amersham Life Science (Oakville, ON, Canada). Acrvlamide (electrophoresis grade), N,N'-methylene-bis-acrylamide, ammonium persulfate, glycine, SDS-PAGE prestained molecular weight standards (low range), nitrocellulose membranes, horse radish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated anti-rabbit and anti-mouse immunoglobulin (IgG) were products of Bio-Rad (Richmond, CA). Rhodamineconjugated goat anti-rabbit IgG, and mouse IgG were product of Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc. (Santa Cruz, CA). Terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase-mediated dUTP nick end labeling (TUNEL) enzyme and TUNEL label mix were from Roche Diagnostics (Indianapolis,IN). C8-ceramide (N-octanoylsphingosine, D-erythro) was from Biomol International LP (Plymouth Meeting, PA). Selective inhibitor of Src family tyrosine kinases (PP1) and PI3K (LY294002) was from Enzo Life Sciences. Inc. (Plymouth Meeting, PA) and Sigma Chemical Co. (St. Louis, MO), respectively. The Akt inhibitor (API-2) was purchased from Calbiochem (EMD Biosciences, Inc. La Jolla, CA). Rabbit polyclonal anti-mouse Fas (sc-716), rabbit polyclonal anti-rat FasL (sc-834) and rabbit monoclonal anti-rat FasL (sc-6273) neutralization peptides (Fas, sc-716P; FasL, sc-834P) were from Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc. (Santa Cruz, CA). Rabbit polyclonal anti-mouse Xiap (2323-PC-050) antibody was purchased from Trevigen Inc. (Trevigen Inc. USA). Rabbit polyclonal anti-mouse P-Akt (Ser473), anti-mouse total Akt, antihuman P-Src (Tyr416) antibodies and mouse monoclonal anti-human N-Src antibody were from Cell Signaling Technology (Oakville, Ontario, Canada). Random decamer primers were from Ambion, Inc. (Austin, TX). Ribonuclease (RNase) inhibitor, RevertAid H Minus M-MULV RT Enzyme, 5 X reaction buffer, and dNTP were from Fermentas International Inc. (Burlington, Ontario, Canada). RNeasy Micro kit, deoxyribonuclease I in RNasefree deoxyribonuclease set and QuantiTect SYBR Green PCR kit were purchased from QIAGEN Inc. (Mississauga,

Ontario, Canada). PCR primers for Xiap, Fas, FasL and 18S rRNA were from Invitrogen Canada.

#### 3.2. Rat granulosa cell isolation and culture

All animal work reported herein were carried in accordance with the Guidelines for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals and Canadian Council on Animal Care. Immature female Sprague-Dawley rats (21-22 days old) from Charles River Canada (Montreal, PQ, Canada) were injected with DES (1mg/day; 3 days), and ovaries were collected at 72 h. Granulosa cells from mainly preantral and early antral follicles were harvested by follicle puncture. Oocvtes were removed from the cell preparations by filtering the cell suspensions through a nvlon cell strainer (40 um: Becton Dickinson and Co., no. 352340). At day 0,  $9 \times 10^5$  viable granulosa cells (determined by Trypan blue dye-exclusion test) were cultured for 5 h in a 6-well plate with 1.2 ml of M199 medium [supplemented with HEPES (10 mM), streptomycin (100 µg/ml), penicillin (100 U/ml), and fungizone (0.625 µg/ml)] containing fetal bovine serum (10%, wt/vol). The media were then replaced with serumfree M199 supplemented as above for 12 h thereafter and cells were treated with FSH (100 ng/ml)  $\pm$  T<sub>3</sub> (0.10-100 nM). Four hours thereafter, C8-ceramide (30µm; a cellpermeable. short-chain ceramide analog) or dimethylsulfoxide (vehicle control) (42) were added. In some experiments, cells were pretreated with the Src inhibitor PP1 (10µM) (36), PI3K inhibitor LY294002 (10µM) (29) and Akt inhibitor API-2 (10µM) (43) 1h before FSH  $\pm$  T<sub>3</sub> treatment. Floating cells and cells attached to the growth surface (collected by trypsin treatment) (42) were pooled for different duration thereafter for assessment of protein/mRNA content or apoptosis.

## 3.3. Protein extraction and western blot analysis

Western blot analysis was performed as described previously (44). All protein extraction was carried out on ice, and protease inhibitors PMSF (10 µm), aprotinin (50 ug/ml) and sodium orthovanadate (1 mM) were added to buffers, where indicated, immediately before use. Granulosa cell pellets were resuspended in lysis buffer [single-strength PBS (pH 7.4), 1% NP-40, 0.5% sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% SDS] containing protease inhibitors and homogenized by sonication (5 sec/cycle, 3 cycles). Homogenates were centrifuged (14,000 x g, 4C, 30 min), and the protein content of the supernatant (cell lysate) was determined with the Bio-Rad DC protein assay kit. Aliquots of proteins (15 µg) were resolved by SDS-PAGE (10%) and electrotransferred to nitrocellulose membranes. The membranes were then blocked (RT. 1 h) with blotto [Tris-buffered saline (pH 8.0) with 0.05% Tween 20 (TBS-T), 5% dehydrated nonfat milk powder]; they were then incubated 4 °C, overnight with blotto containing 0.1 g/ml p-Akt (1:1000), t-Akt (1:1000), Xiap (1:1000), Fas (1:1000), FasL (1:1000), p-Src (1:1000), N-Src (1:3000), β-actin (1:10,000) antibody and then washed in TBS-T (3 x 5 min), incubated in HRP-conjugated secondary antibody (1:3000, 1:3000, 1:1000, 1:1000, 1:1000, 1:3000, 1:1000, 1:1000, respectively) in blotto, and washed again in TBS-T. Peroxidase activity was visualized with the ECL kit according to the manufacturer's instructions, and protein content was determined by densitometrically scanning the exposed x-ray film. Antibody specificity for Fas and FasL was confirmed by antibody preabsorption test, using 0.1  $\mu$ g/ml of control peptides for Fas (sc-716P) and FasL (sc-834P), respectively.

# 3.4. RNA extraction, cDNA synthesis, and real-time PCR analysis

Total RNAs were extracted from granulosa cells that were collected from the above indicated culture using RNeasy Micro kit. Briefly, 0.2 µg total RNAs were reverse transcribed in a final volume of 20 µl solution containing 4µl 5×reaction buffer, 2µl 10 mM dNTP, 20 U of RNase inhibitor, 200 U RevertAid H Minus M-MULV RT enzyme, random decamer primers, and RNase free H<sub>2</sub>O. Quantitative PCR analysis for Xiap, Fas, FasL and 18S rRNA were performed, using a LightCycler 2.0 System (Roche Diagnostics). The Xiap primers used for amplification were a 5' forward primer (5'-CAGTGTGCGGAAGCAGTTGACAAA-3') and a 3' (5'reverse primer TAACATGCCTACTGTGGTGCTGGA-3'). The Fas sequences 5'primer were ACCACTGTTATCACTGCACCTCGT-3' (5' forward primer) and 5'- AGGATCAGCAGCCAAAGGAGCTTA-3' (3' reverse primer). The FasL primers used for amplification were a 5' forward primer (5' AAGACCACAAGGTCCAACAGGTCA-3') and a 3' reverse primer (5'- TTCTCTTTGCCTCTGCATTGCCAC-3'). The 18S rRNA primer sequences used were a 5' forward primer (5'-CGCGGTTCTATTTGTTGGT-3') and a 3' reverse primer (5'-AGTCGGCATCGTTTATGGTC-3'). Amplification reaction was then performed using the QuantiTect SYBR Green PCR kit. The thermal cycling conditions were comprised of an initial denaturation step (95 °C, 15 min) followed by 45 cycles amplification for Xiap, Fas, FasL and 40 cycles amplification for 18S rRNA (95 °C for 15 sec, 58 °C for 20 sec, and 72 °C for 30 sec, respectively). PCR products were subsequently melted at 60 °C for 30 sec. The melting curve analysis shows a single peak with no primer-dimers at the described PCR working conditions for Xiap, Fas, FasL and 18S primer sets, respectively. A standard curve was included for each gene. All the real time-PCR assay for Xiap, Fas and FasL mRNA abundance were quantified within the linear range, normalized against their respective 18S rRNA mRNA and expressed as fold of 0 h respectively before statistical analysis (45). PCR without reverse-transcribed cDNA were used as negative controls.

## 3.5. TUNEL

Apoptotic cells were identified by TUNEL (TdTmediated dUTP nick end-labeling). Briefly, cells were harvested by centrifugation (3000 x g, 5 min, 4 °C). The supernatant was removed and the cell pellet was fixed overnight with 300  $\mu$ l 10% formalin. The cells were recovered by centrifugation (3000 x g, 5 'min, 4 °C) and resuspended on a charged glass slide in 15 $\mu$ l PBS. The cells were allowed to be air-dried (30 min) and endogenous peroxidase activity was removed by treatment with 0.3% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> (RT, 20 min). The cells were washed with PBS (3 x 5 min; RT). The cells were then incubated in 20  $\mu$ l of the TUNEL mixture (18µl fluorescein isothiocyanateconjugated dUTP and 2µl TUNEL enzyme) in a humidified chamber (60 min, 37 °C), washed in PBS (3 x 10 min), and stained with Hoechst 33258 compound (1:1000; 1 min). After washed with PBS (2 x 10 min), the cells were photographed with a Leica microscope (Leica Lasertechnik GmBH, Heidelberg, Germany) equipped with epifluorescent optics, and the images were recorded using QCapture Suite version 2.56 software (Burnaby, British Columbia, Canada). The cells incubated with 20µl TUNEL-label solution without TUNEL enzyme served as a negative control. Apoptotic cells were identified at 24h and expressed as a percentage of the total cells.

## 3.6. Statistical analysis

Results are presented as means  $\pm$  SEM of at least three independent experiments, as detailed in the figure legends. All data were subjected to two- or three-way (repeated-measure) ANOVA (Prism 5.0 statistical software; GraphPad Software, Inc., San Diego, CA or SIGMAPLOT 11 software Inc., Richmond, CA). Differences between experimental groups were determined by the Bonferroni post test.

#### 4. RESULTS

# 4.1. The effect of FSH and $T_3$ on Fas and FasL protein and mRNA content

It has been demonstrated that the Fas-FasL system is involved in the induction of apoptosis in ovarian cells of the human (28), mouse (23), pig (46) and rat (21). To examine if TH and FSH regulate Fas and FasL protein expression, granulosa cells were cultured with FSH and/or T<sub>3</sub> for 24 h and cellular content of Fas and FasL were determined by Western blot. Although FSH or T<sub>3</sub> alone had no significant influence on granulosa cell Fas content, cotreatment with FSH and  $T_3(1.0 \text{ nM})$  significantly decreased Fas protein content [0.19±0.04 (FSH+T<sub>3</sub>) vs. 1.32±0.1 (FSH), p<0.001; Figure 1A]. FasL content was significantly decreased in the presence of FSH [0.39±0.05 (FSH) vs. 0.925±0.09 (CTL without T<sub>3</sub>), p<0.05; Figure 1A] and appeared to be decreased further though not significantly, with co-treatment with T<sub>3</sub>. To better understand if the Fas/FasL protein content are regulated at the mRNA level by these hormones, Fas/FasL mRNA abundance were determined by qPCR. Granulosa cells cultured for 6 h to 12 h with FSH alone had lower Fas mRNA level when compared to the respective control [FSH vs. CTL: 1.08±0.09 vs. 1.99±0.21(6h); 1.17±0.15 vs. 1.74±0.26 (12h), Figure 1B], although this response was not altered by the presence of  $T_3$  [FSH+T<sub>3</sub>, 1.22±0.23 (6h); 1.02±0.14 (12h)]. Expression of FasL mRNA was not affected by FSH irrespective of the presence of T<sub>3</sub> (Figure 1B). Moreover, T<sub>3</sub> alone had no effect on Fas/FasL mRNA content, suggesting that the regulation of granulosa cell FasL expression by FSH and  $T_3$  is at the translational level or via post-translational processing.

# 4.2. T<sub>3</sub> significantly increased FSH-induced Xiap content *in vitro*

It is well established that the pro-survival factor, Xiap, directly inhibits caspase-3,-7 and -9 (11). Our

previous studies have shown that extensive granulosa cell apoptosis in preantral and early antral follicles is associated with reduced Xiap levels. Withdrawal of gonadotropin negatively regulate Xiap expression and induced apoptosis in vivo (13). FSH increased Xiap mRNA and protein content in granulosa cells from large antral follicles in vitro, a process mediated by activated NF $\kappa$ B (29). To determine whether T<sub>3</sub> has a direct effect on Xiap content and can elicit a mitogenic response, granulosa cells were cultured in the FSH and/or  $T_3$  for 24 h. FSH significantly increased granulosa cell Xiap content [2.06±0.07 (FSH) vs. 1.18±0.14 (CTL without  $T_3$ ), P<0.05; Figure 2A]. Although  $T_3$  alone was ineffective, a further and significant increase in Xiap content was detected in the presence of both FSH and T<sub>3</sub> (3.29±0.11, p<0.01) at 1.0 nM but not 0.1 (2.25±0.32), 10 (2.09±0.25) or 100 (2.1±0.34) nM T<sub>3</sub> (Figure 2A), when compared with those of FSH alone. Xiap mRNA abundance at 18h is significantly higher in  $FSH + T_3$  group  $(1.95\pm0.14)$  than in FSH alone group  $(1.33\pm0.05)$  (P<0.05; Figure 2B), although the differences between the FSH alone and control group  $(1.06\pm0.05)$  were not statistically significant. Xiap protein content increased along with the up-regulation of Xiap mRNA abundance, suggesting that increased gene transcription may at least partially account for the increased protein content induced by hormonal cotreatment.

## 4.3. T<sub>3</sub> and FSH protected granulosa cells from ceramide-induced apoptosis

Granulosa cell apoptosis, as assessed by TUNEL, was low irrespective of the presence of FSH or  $T_3$ . To determine whether FSH and  $T_3$  are survival factors and could protect granulosa cells from C8-ceramide-induced cell death, we cultured granulosa cells with FSH and/or  $T_3$ and ceramide [an inducer of cell cycle arrest and apoptosis; 30 µM, added 4 h after hormonal treatment (42)]. Ceramide increased the number of TUNEL-positive cells from about 9.90±1.84% (basal level) to 60.99±3.28%, which was reduced by  $T_3$ , FSH and FSH+ $T_3$  to 9.29±0.41%, 4.08±0.47%, 3.39±0.77 %, respectively (Figure 2C).

# 4.4. T<sub>3</sub> enhanced FSH-induced up-regulation of granulosa cell P-Akt content

Akt is a downstream effector of PI3K, which mediates granulosa cell survival (47). To determine if the combined treatment with FSH and T<sub>3</sub> activate granulosa cells PI3K pathway in vitro, granulosa cells were incubated with FSH and/or T3 for 30 minutes and phospho-Akt content was determined. Phospho-Ser 473 Akt content was significantly increased in granulosa cells incubated with FSH [36.11±6.89 (FSH) vs. 0.89±0.06 (CTL without T3), p<0.01], a response significantly enhanced by T3 (1.0 nM, 57.81±10.82; p<0.05), although T3 alone (0.10-100 nM) was ineffective (Figure 3A). Remarkably, T3 enhanced FSH-induced Akt activation was PI3K-dependent, as pre-treatment of granulosa cells with the PI3K inhibitor LY294002 was capable of preventing FSH and T<sub>3</sub>-induced Akt phosphorylation (Figure 3D). Additionally, granulosa cells treated with Akt inhibitor API-2 (48) suppressed phospho-Akt content induced by FSH and T<sub>3</sub>.



**Figure 1.** Effect of FSH and/or  $T_3$  on granulosa cell Fas/FasL protein and mRNA content *in vitro*. Immature rats were treated with DES (1mg/day, 3 consecutive days) for granulosa cell isolation from preantral and early antral follicles. Granulosa cells were cultured up to 24h in the absence or presence of FSH (100 ng/ml) and/or various concentrations of  $T_3$  (0-100 nM). The cells were harvested for Fas/FasL protein (Western Blot) and mRNA (real-time PCR) analysis. The Fas and FasL protein contents and mRNA abundance were normalized by  $\beta$ -actin and 18S rRNA respectively, and results are expressed as the fold of 0 time value for each group (B, real-time PCR). (A) Although FSH had no significant influence on Fas content, this response was significantly down-regulated by the presence of both FSH and  $T_3$  (1.0 nM; P<0.001). FSH significantly down-regulated FasL expression (P<0.05), which was not affected by  $T_3$ . (B) FSH alone dramatically decreased Fas mRNA level during 6-12 h compared with the respective control (P<0.05). The combination of two hormones failed to enhance the down-regulated effect.  $T_3$  alone was also ineffective. Neither of the hormone alone nor together elicited a significant response in the FasL mRNA regulation at all time points examined. \*, P<0.05; \*\*, P<0.01; \*\*\*, P<0.001 (vs respective CTL); ++, P<0.01; +++, P<0.001 (vs FSH alone).

## 4.5. T<sub>3</sub>-FSH interaction increased granulosa cell P-Src content

The Src family of non-receptor tyrosine kinases attenuate the inhibitory activity of regulatory subunit (p85) of PI3K by inducing tyrosine phosphorylation of p85, and interaction between phospho-tyrosine and the SH2 domain of p85 (36). To determine whether activated Src is the upstream of PI3K/Akt pathway, granulosa cells were incubated for 10 min with FSH and/or T<sub>3</sub>. As shown in Figure 3B, FSH dramatically increased the phospho-Src content [0.92±0.06 (FSH) vs. 0.49±0.03 (CTL), P<0.001]. While T<sub>3</sub> alone had no effective on Src phosphorylation, co-treatment with the two hormones significantly enhanced Src activation when compared with FSH alone [1.33±0.06 (FSH+T<sub>3</sub>) vs.0.92±0.06 (FSH), p<0.01; Figure 3B]. Pre-

treatment of granulosa cells with Src kinase inhibitor PP1 for 1 hour, resulted in the inhibition of the FSH- and/or  $T_3$  - induced Src phosphorylation. To address the possible role of activated Src in the regulation of the PI3K/Akt pathway, granulosa cells were also pre-treated with PP1 and phospho-Akt content was determined. PP1 attenuated the FSH- and or  $T_3$ - induced phospho-Akt content, but had no effect on total Akt content (Figure 3D).

# 4.6. Src & PI-3K/Akt pathway is involved the regulation of Fas, FasL and Xiap by FSH and $T_3$

Gonadotropic stimulation down-regulates both Fas and FasL expression in rat granulosa cells (21). FSH increased follicular Xiap expression via PI3K/Akt pathway in vitro (15). To test the hypothesis that Src/PI3K/Akt pathway is involved the regulation of granulosa cell Fas,



**Figure 2.** Effect of FSH and T<sub>3</sub> on granulosa cell Xiap content and apoptosis *in vitro*.Granulosa cells were cultured for up to 24h with FSH and/or T<sub>3</sub>. As described in the Material and Methods, cells were collected for Western, real-time PCR analysis and TUNEL measurement. Xiap protein content and mRNA abundance was normalized by  $\beta$ -actin or 18S rRNA respectively, and expressed as the fold of 0h value for each group (B, real-time PCR). (A) T<sub>3</sub>, although ineffective alone, significantly increased FSH-induced Xiap expression in the presence of T<sub>3</sub> (10<sup>-9</sup> M; P<0.01). (B) T<sub>3</sub> (1.0 nM) plus FSH (100 ng/ml) significantly increased Xiap mRNA at 18 h (P<0.05). FSH or T<sub>3</sub> alone was ineffective at all time points examined. (C) Ceramide (30µm)-induced granulosa cell apoptosis was attenuated by the presence of FSH and/or T<sub>3</sub>. \*, P<0.05; \*\*\*,P<0.001 (vs respective CTL). +, P<0.05; ++, P<0.01 (vs FSH alone in the groups of same culture duration).



**Figure 3.** Effect of  $T_3$  and FSH in vitro on P-Akt and P-Src content in granulosa cells .Granulosa cells were cultured for different duration in the presence of FSH (100 ng/ml) and/or  $T_3$ . Proteins from whole-cell lysate were assessed by Western blot analysis. Phospho-Akt and phospho-Src contents were normalized by t-Akt and N-src, respectively. (A) FSH significantly increase phospho-Akt content after 30 min treatment (P<0.01), a response enhanced by  $T_3$  (1.0 nM; P<0.05).  $T_3$  alone was ineffective. (B) FSH (100 ng/ml) significantly increased the phospho-Src content at 10 min (P<0.001). After co-treatment with FSH (100 ng/ml) and  $T_3$  (1.0 nM) for 10 min, the level of phosphor-Src was further enhanced (P<0.01; compared with FSH alone). However,  $T_3$  alone was without effect on phospho-Src content. (C)  $T_3$  (1.0 nM) significantly synergized with FSH (100 ng/ml) in the upregulation of phospho-Src content in a 10 min incubation. The increased phospho-Src in the presence of FSH plus  $T_3$ -induced phospho-Akt content. A,B,C, \*\*, P<0.01; \*\*\*, P<0.001 (vs respective CTL); +, P<0.05; ++, P<0.01 (vs FSH alone); D, \*\*\*, P<0.001 (vs FSH alone); +++, P<0.001 (vs FSH +T\_3).

FasL and Xiap expression, and consequently promoting cell survival, granulosa cells were pretreated for 1 hour with specific inhibitor of Src (PP1), PI3K (LY294002) or Akt (API-2) and then treated with FSH and/or  $T_3$  for 24 hours (Figure 4A, B & C). While Fas and FasL protein contents were down-regulated by the presence of FSH and  $T_3$ , these responses were significantly attenuated by pretreatment with all three inhibitors [Fas:



**Figure 4.** Regulation of Fas/FasL and Xiap by FSH and T<sub>3</sub> is mediated by Src and PI3K/Akt signaling. After pretreatment of with inhibitor of src (PP1, 10µm), PI3K (LY294002, 10µm) or Akt (API-2, 10µm) for 1 h, granulosa cells were cultured for 24 h with FSH and/or T<sub>3</sub>, and Fas, FasL and Xiap contents and apoptosis were analyzed by Western Blot and TUNEL measurement respectively. (A) Although the inhibitors alone failed to affect Fas expression, they attenuated the inhibitory effect of FSH and T<sub>3</sub> on Fas content. (B) The inhibitors attenuated the inhibitory effect of FSH and T<sub>3</sub> on FasL content. (C) FSH plus T<sub>3</sub> -induced Xiap content was decreased by all three inhibitors. (D) Pretreatment with the inhibitors abrogated the anti-apoptotic effect of FSH plus T<sub>3</sub>. \*, P<0.05 ; \*\*, P<0.01; \*\*\*, P<0.001 (vs FSH.alone); +, P<0.05; ++, P<0.01; +++, P<0.001 (vs FSH+T<sub>3</sub>).

0.32±0.12 (FSH+T<sub>3</sub>), 0.83±0.23 (FSH+T<sub>3</sub>+PP1), 0.78±0.08 (FSH+T<sub>3</sub>+LY), 0.81±0.15 (FSH+T<sub>3</sub>+API); FasL: 0.74±0.06  $(FSH+T_3),$  $2.20\pm0.45$  $(FSH+T_3+PP1),$ 2.84±0.23 (FSH+T<sub>3</sub>+LY), 2.46±0.19 (FSH+T<sub>3</sub>+API)] Coincidentally, the inhibitors also abrogated the up-regulation of Xiap induced by FSH+T<sub>3</sub> [1.73±0.08 (FSH+T<sub>3</sub>) vs 0.74±0.07 (FSH+T<sub>3</sub>+PP1), 0.59±0.07 (FSH+T<sub>3</sub>+LY), 0.65±0.08 (FSH+T<sub>3</sub>+API), p<0.001; Figure 4C]. Pretreatment with inhibitors also abrogated the anti-apoptotic effect of FSH+T<sub>3</sub> [3.36±0.51  $(FSH+T_3)$ 9.07±0.58 vs (FSH+T<sub>3</sub>+PP1), 8.84±0.58 (FSH+T<sub>3</sub>+LY), 14.57±2.48 (FSH+T<sub>3</sub>+API), P<0.01; Figure 4D]. These results suggest that FSH synergizes with  $T_3$  to promote granulosa cell survival by regulating Fas, FasL and Xiap content via a Src-activated and PI3K/Akt-mediated mechanism.

#### 5. DISCUSSION

We have previously demonstrated that gonadotropin up-regulates antral follicular Xiap expression and downregulates the Fas/FasL pathway, and suppressed follicular apoptosis (15, 21). In addition, TH synergizes with FSH in promoting preantral follicular development (10). However, precisely how TH interacts with FSH in the regulation of preantral follicular growth is not known. Although TH regulates genes expression by binding to its specific nuclear thyroid receptors (TRs), several rapid actions of TH appears mediated by other non-genomic pathways (32). Our results are also consistent with the non-genomic concept.

In the present study, we have demonstrated for the first time that FSH and T<sub>3</sub> increases granulosa cell Xiap content, down-regulates Fas/FasL pathway, and inhibits apoptosis. This regulation is mediated through the activation of Src-dependent PI3K/Akt pathway. The effect of T<sub>3</sub> was biphasic and within the physiological range of circulating levels of T<sub>3</sub> (38), and maximum response was evident at 1.0 nM. These findings are consistent with earlier studies showing an induction by  $T_3$  of a biphasic increase in preantral follicular FSH receptor mRNA abundance with a maximal stimulatory concentration of the hormone also at 1.0 nM (10). Additionally, it is well established that both hypo- and hyper-thyroidism result in suppressed ovarian follicular growth (49, 50). Whether our current observations are related to these pathologic conditions remains to be determined.

It is well established that Xiap suppresses apoptosis by inhibiting caspase-9,-3 and -7 (11, 51-53). Xiap also ubiquitinates caspases and smac, leading to decreased contents of these proteins by proteasomal degradation (54). We have previously reported that FSH increased follicular Xiap expression, suppressed apoptosis and stimulated antral follicle development (15) and that TH and FSH synergize to promote growth of preantral/early antral follicles in vitro (10). The present studies extent these findings and demonstrate that co-treatment of granulosa cells from preantral/early antral follicles with FSH and T<sub>3</sub> increases Xiap expression, as evident by an increased Xiap protein and mRNA content following the hormonal treatment. Whether the increase in Xiap mRNA abundance is due to increased gene transcription and stabilization of the message in response to FSH and T<sub>3</sub> remains to be determined.

In the present study, granulosa cell Fas protein and mRNA levels were down-regulated by co-treatment of FSH and T<sub>3</sub>, although neither FSH nor T<sub>3</sub> alone had any significant effect. Whereas FasL protein level was dramatically decreased by FSH, this effect was not significantly enhanced by T<sub>3</sub>. Although FasL mRNA abundance was not significantly changed by the hormonal treatment, the level of FasL was significantly decreased, suggesting that the regulation of FasL protein may be at the translation level or via post-translational processing. Whether the latter possibility includes T<sub>3</sub>-induced FasL degradation, maturation, stability, secretion, surface appearance and storage (55, 56), remains to be determined. Moreover, since FSH decreased the FasL but not Fas protein level and stimulated follicular development (10), it is possible that the control of FasL content might be more important in the regulation of granulosa cell apoptosis. It is of note that FasL expression and apoptosis were higher in the control groups than hormone-treated groups, the latter was not significantly different (Figure 1A and 2C). This is not surprising, considering the low level of apoptosis in the control group. These findings are consistent with our previous data that follicles showing intense immunoactivities for Fas and FasL also exhibit minimal or no TUNEL signals (17). In this context, while treatment of granulosa cells with C8-ceramide dramatically increased the number of TUNEL-positive cells, this was significantly decreased by treatment with FSH and/or  $T_3$ . These findings demonstrate that FSH and  $T_3$  are anti-apoptotic and exert their action through inhibition of the Fas/FasL death pathway and the up-regulation the anti-apoptotic factor Xiap.

Activation of the PI3K/Akt pathway inhibits apoptosis via both the intrinsic and extrinsic death pathway (48, 57). Although FSH or TH rapidly activates the PI3K/Akt pathway in different cell type (29, 36), whether the activation of PI3K/Akt pathway by FSH and T<sub>3</sub> would indeed suppress granulosa cell apoptosis is not known. In the present study, we have demonstrated for the first time that T<sub>3</sub> rapidly enhanced FSH-induced Akt activation in granulosa cells, a response markedly attenuated by pretreatment with inhibitor of PI3K (LY294002) and Akt (API-2). Both inhibitors also abrogated the changes on Xiap, Fas, FasL and apoptosis induced by FSH and T<sub>3</sub>, suggesting that the activation of PI3K/Akt pathway is required for the regulation of Xiap, Fas, FasL and apoptosis.

The non-receptor tyrosine kinase Src is localized to cellular membrane and is involved in the regulation of cell proliferation, apoptosis and motility (58). Activation of Gprotein-coupled receptors and steroid hormone receptors, including thyroid hormone receptor (TR) leads to Src autophosphorylation and tyrosine activation and phosphorylation of p85, the regulatory subunit of the PI3K (36). It has been demonstrated that TH activates Akt via TR/Src/PI3K complex (36). However, whether Src is involved in the FSH- and T<sub>3</sub>-induced Akt activation in granulosa cells is not known. In the present study, inhibition of Src by PP1 suppressed FSH- and T<sub>3</sub>-induced Src activation and Akt phosphorylation as well as changes in Xiap, Fas and FasL contents, suggesting that Src is essential for Akt activation involved in anti-apoptotic signaling in granulosa cells in response to FSH and  $T_3$ .

Although our present studies provide strong evidence supporting the hypothesis that FSH and  $T_3$ modulate the granulosa cell Xiap, Fas/Fasl content and apoptosis via Src activation of the PI3K/Akt pathway, the precise mechanism involved needs further investigated. Thyroid hormone receptor are present in rat granulosa cells (59) and thyroid receptor  $\beta$ 1 (TR $\beta$ 1) is able to interact with the regulatory subunit p85 $\alpha$  of the PI3K (60). Although T<sub>3</sub> induces the activation of PI3K/Akt, a process involving the TR $\alpha$ 1/p85/Src complex, the involvement of this complex in the PI3K/Akt pathway in the action of FSH and T<sub>3</sub> in granulosa cell has not been demonstrated. Our results suggest that TH interacted with FSH in increasing phospho-Src and phospho-Akt content and modulate Xiap, Fas and FasL expression. In this regard, we speculated that TR/Src/PI3K form complex and then increase Akt activity

and induce the downstream regulation. Alternatively, since TH increases intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  concentration, which contributes to increase phospho-Src level (61), it is thus possible that increased intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  level activates Src, which then activates the PI3K/Akt pathway without the TR/Src/PI3K complex. The another possibility is that Src is activated by NO/cGMP/PKG-I alpha signaling pathway (62), and subsequently the activation of the PI3K/Akt pathway and the up-regulation of Xiap. Whether any of these mechanisms is operational in the granulosa cells in response to FSH/T<sub>3</sub> remains to be determined.

## 6. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by grants from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (MOP-10369 to BKT), the Canada-China Joint Health Research Initiative of the Canadian Institutes of Health Research and the National Natural Science Foundation of China (CCI-109620; to BKY and GLX) and the World Class University (WCU) program (R31-10056 to BKT) through the National Research Foundation of Korea funded by the Ministry of Education, Science and Technology. Cheng Zhang is a recipient of scholarships from the China Scholarship Council, Ministry of Education, Peoples' Republic of China and CIHR Institute of Human Development, Child and Youth Health REDIH Scholarship.

#### 7. REFERENCES

1. S. M. Quirk, D. A. Porter, S. C. Huber and R. G. Cowan: Potentiation of Fas-mediated apoptosis of murine granulosa cells by interferon-gamma, tumor necrosis factor-alpha, and cycloheximide. *Endocrinology*, 139(12), 4860-9 (1998)

2. Q. Chen, T. Yano, H. Matsumi, Y. Osuga, N. Yano, J. Xu, O. Wada, K. Koga, T. Fujiwara, K. Kugu and Y. Taketani: Cross-Talk between Fas/Fas ligand system and nitric oxide in the pathway subserving granulosa cell apoptosis: a possible regulatory mechanism for ovarian follicle atresia. *Endocrinology*, 146(2), 808-15 (2005)

3. A. J. Hsueh, H. Billig and A. Tsafriri: Ovarian follicle atresia: a hormonally controlled apoptotic process. *Endocr Rev*, 15(6), 707-24 (1994)

4. S. Y. Hsu and A. J. Hsueh: Hormonal regulation of apoptosis an ovarian perspective. *Trends Endocrinol Metab*, 8(5), 207-13 (1997)

5. J. Y. Jiang, C. K. Cheung, Y. Wang and B. K. Tsang: Regulation of cell death and cell survival gene expression during ovarian follicular development and atresia. *Front Biosci*, 8, d222-37 (2003)

6. A. N. Hirshfield: Development of follicles in the mammalian ovary. *Int Rev Cytol*, 124, 43-101 (1991)

7. J. J. Peluso and R. W. Steger: Role of FSH in regulating granulosa cell division and follicular atresia in rats. *J Reprod Fertil*, 54(2), 275-8 (1978)

8. J. Y. Jiang, M. Umezu and E. Sato: Improvement of follicular development rather than gonadotrophin secretion by thyroxine treatment in infertile immature hypothyroid rdw rats. *J Reprod Fertil*, 119(2), 193-9 (2000)

9. J. Y. Jiang, K. Miyoshi, M. Umezu and E. Sato: Superovulation of immature hypothyroid rdw rats by thyroxine therapy and the development of eggs after in vitro fertilization. *J Reprod Fertil*, 116(1), 19-24 (1999)

10. N. Kobayashi, M. Orisaka, M. Cao, F. Kotsuji, A. Leader, N. Sakuragi and B. K. Tsang: Growth differentiation factor-9 mediates follicle-stimulating hormone-thyroid hormone interaction in the regulation of rat preantral follicular development. *Endocrinology*, 150(12), 5566-74 (2009)

11. J. Sensintaffar, F. L. Scott, R. Peach and J. H. Hager: XIAP is not required for human tumor cell survival in the absence of an exogenous death signal. *BMC Cancer*, 10, 11 (2010)

12. A. R. Mufti, E. Burstein and C. S. Duckett: XIAP: cell death regulation meets copper homeostasis. *Arch Biochem Biophys*, 463(2), 168-74 (2007)

13. J. Li, J. M. Kim, P. Liston, M. Li, T. Miyazaki, A. E. Mackenzie, R. G. Korneluk and B. K. Tsang: Expression of inhibitor of apoptosis proteins (IAPs) in rat granulosa cells during ovarian follicular development and atresia. *Endocrinology*, 139(3), 1321-8 (1998)

14. E. Asselin, Y. Wang and B. K. Tsang: X-linked inhibitor of apoptosis protein activates the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt pathway in rat granulosa cells during follicular development. *Endocrinology*, 142(6), 2451-7 (2001)

15. Y. Wang, P. U. Rippstein and B. K. Tsang: Role and gonadotrophic regulation of X-linked inhibitor of apoptosis protein expression during rat ovarian follicular development in vitro. *Biol Reprod*, 68(2), 610-9 (2003)

16. A. Strasser, P. J. Jost and S. Nagata: The many roles of FAS receptor signaling in the immune system. *Immunity*, 30(2), 180-92 (2009)

17. J. M. Kim, Y. D. Yoon and B. K. Tsang: Involvement of the Fas/Fas ligand system in p53-mediated granulosa cell apoptosis during follicular development and atresia. *Endocrinology*, 140(5), 2307-17 (1999)

18. X. Cao, F. Kambe, L. C. Moeller, S. Refetoff and H. Seo: Thyroid hormone induces rapid activation of Akt/protein kinase B-mammalian target of rapamycinp70S6K cascade through phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase in human fibroblasts. *Mol Endocrinol*, 19(1), 102-12 (2005)

19. S. Nagata: Apoptosis by death factor. *Cell*, 88(3), 355-65 (1997)

20. M. W. Guo, J. P. Xu, E. Mori, E. Sato, S. Saito and T. Mori: Expression of Fas ligand in murine ovary. *Am J Reprod Immunol*, 37(5), 391-8 (1997)

21. J. M. Kim, D. L. Boone, A. Auyeung and B. K. Tsang: Granulosa cell apoptosis induced at the penultimate stage of follicular development is associated with increased levels of Fas and Fas ligand in the rat ovary. *Biol Reprod*, 58(5), 1170-6 (1998)

22. M. L. Hamm, G. K. Bhat, W. E. Thompson and D. R. Mann: Folliculogenesis is impaired and granulosa cell apoptosis is increased in leptin-deficient mice. *Biol Reprod*, 71(1), 66-72 (2004)

23. S. J. Dharma, R. L. Kelkar and T. D. Nandedkar: Fas and Fas ligand protein and mRNA in normal and atretic mouse ovarian follicles. *Reproduction*, 126(6), 783-9 (2003)

24. H. Honnma, T. Endo, H. Henmi, K. Nagasawa, T. Baba, K. Yamazaki, Y. Kitajima, T. Hayashi, K. Manase and T. Saito: Altered expression of Fas/Fas ligand/caspase 8 and membrane type 1-matrix metalloproteinase in atretic follicles within dehydroepiandrosterone-induced polycystic ovaries in rats. *Apoptosis*, 11(9), 1525-33 (2006)

25. S. M. Quirk, R. M. Harman and R. G. Cowan: Regulation of Fas antigen (Fas, CD95)-mediated apoptosis of bovine granulosa cells by serum and growth factors. *Biol Reprod*, 63(5), 1278-84 (2000)

26. K. Sakamaki, H. Yoshida, Y. Nishimura, S. Nishikawa, N. Manabe and S. Yonehara: Involvement of Fas antigen in ovarian follicular atresia and luteolysis. *Mol Reprod Dev*, 47(1), 11-8 (1997)

27. N. Hakuno, T. Koji, T. Yano, N. Kobayashi, O. Tsutsumi, Y. Taketani and P. K. Nakane: Fas/APO-1/CD95 system as a mediator of granulosa cell apoptosis in ovarian follicle atresia. *Endocrinology*, 137(5), 1938-48 (1996)

28. S. M. Quirk, R. G. Cowan, S. G. Joshi and K. P. Henrikson: Fas antigen-mediated apoptosis in human granulosa/luteal cells. *Biol Reprod*, 52(2), 279-87 (1995)

29. Y. Wang, S. Chan and B. K. Tsang: Involvement of inhibitory nuclear factor-kappaB (NFkappaB)-independent NFkappaB activation in the gonadotropic regulation of X-linked inhibitor of apoptosis expression during ovarian follicular development in vitro. *Endocrinology*, 143(7), 2732-40 (2002)

30. D. L. Boone, J. A. Carnegie, P. U. Rippstein and B. K. Tsang: Induction of apoptosis in equine chorionic gonadotropin (eCG)-primed rat ovaries by anti-eCG antibody. *Biol Reprod*, 57(2), 420-7 (1997)

31. J. B. Laoag-Fernandez, H. Matsuo, H. Murakoshi, A. L. Hamada, B. K. Tsang and T. Maruo: 3,5,3'-Triiodothyronine down-regulates Fas and Fas ligand expression and suppresses caspase-3 and poly (adenosine 5'-diphosphate-ribose) polymerase cleavage and apoptosis in early placental extravillous trophoblasts in vitro. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 89(8), 4069-77 (2004)

32. P. J. Davis, J. L. Leonard and F. B. Davis: Mechanisms of nongenomic actions of thyroid hormone. *Front Neuroendocrinol*, 29(2), 211-8 (2008)

33. P. J. Davis and F. B. Davis: Nongenomic actions of thyroid hormone on the heart. *Thyroid*, 12(6), 459-66 (2002)

34. A. Iordanidou, M. Hadzopoulou-Cladaras and A. Lazou: Non-genomic effects of thyroid hormone in adult cardiac myocytes: relevance to gene expression and cell growth. *Mol Cell Biochem*, 340(1-2), 291-300 (2010)

35. F. Furuya, C. Lu, C. J. Guigon and S. Y. Cheng: Nongenomic activation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase signaling by thyroid hormone receptors. *Steroids*, 74(7), 628-34 (2009)

36. X. Cao, F. Kambe, M. Yamauchi and H. Seo: Thyroidhormone-dependent activation of the phosphoinositide 3kinase/Akt cascade requires Src and enhances neuronal survival. *Biochem J*, 424(2), 201-9 (2009)

37. S. Asahara, A. Sato, A. A. Aljonaid and T. Maruo: Thyroid hormone synergizes with follicle stimulating hormone to inhibit apoptosis in porcine granulosa cells selectively from small follicles. *Kobe J Med Sci*, 49(5-6), 107-16 (2003)

38. G. Dijkstra, D. G. de Rooij, F. H. de Jong and R. van den Hurk: Effect of hypothyroidism on ovarian follicular development, granulosa cell proliferation and peripheral hormone levels in the prepubertal rat. *Eur J Endocrinol*, 134(5), 649-54 (1996)

39. M. P. Haynes, L. Li, D. Sinha, K. S. Russell, K. Hisamoto, R. Baron, M. Collinge, W. C. Sessa and J. R. Bender: Src kinase mediates phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt-dependent rapid endothelial nitric-oxide synthase activation by estrogen. *J Biol Chem*, 278(4), 2118-23 (2003)

40. M. Sun, L. Yang, R. I. Feldman, X. M. Sun, K. N. Bhalla, R. Jove, S. V. Nicosia and J. Q. Cheng: Activation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt pathway by androgen through interaction of p85alpha, androgen receptor, and Src. *J Biol Chem*, 278(44), 42992-3000 (2003)

41. C. M. Pleiman, W. M. Hertz and J. C. Cambier: Activation of phosphatidylinositol-3' kinase by Src-family kinase SH3 binding to the p85 subunit. *Science*, 263(5153), 1609-12 (1994)

42. M. Orisaka, S. Orisaka, J. Y. Jiang, J. Craig, Y. Wang, F. Kotsuji and B. K. Tsang: Growth differentiation factor 9 is antiapoptotic during follicular development from preantral to early antral stage. *Mol Endocrinol*, 20(10), 2456-68 (2006)

43. L. Yang, H. C. Dan, M. Sun, Q. Liu, X. M. Sun, R. I. Feldman, A. D. Hamilton, M. Polokoff, S. V. Nicosia, M. Herlyn, S. M. Sebti and J. Q. Cheng: Akt/protein kinase B signaling inhibitor-2, a selective small molecule inhibitor of Akt signaling with antitumor activity in cancer cells overexpressing Akt. *Cancer Res*, 64(13), 4394-9 (2004)

44. Y. Wang, E. Asselin and B. K. Tsang: Involvement of transforming growth factor alpha in the regulation of rat ovarian X-linked inhibitor of apoptosis protein expression and follicular growth by follicle-stimulating hormone. *Biol Reprod*, 66(6), 1672-80 (2002)

45. K. J. Livak and T. D. Schmittgen: Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C(T)) Method. *Methods*, 25(4), 402-8 (2001)

46. N. Inoue, A. Maeda, F. Matsuda-Minehata, K. Fukuta and N. Manabe: Expression and localization of Fas ligand and Fas during atresia in porcine ovarian follicles. *J Reprod Dev*, 52(6), 723-30 (2006)

47. J. A. Kuzman, A. M. Gerdes, S. Kobayashi and Q. Liang: Thyroid hormone activates Akt and prevents serum starvation-induced cell death in neonatal rat cardiomyocytes. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*, 39(5), 841-4 (2005)

48. S. L. Straszewski-Chavez, V. M. Abrahams, P. B. Aldo, R. Romero and G. Mor: AKT controls human first trimester trophoblast cell sensitivity to FAS-mediated apoptosis by regulating XIAP expression. *Biol Reprod*, 82(1), 146-52 (2010)

49. G. N. Burrow: Thyroid function and hyperfunction during gestation. *Endocr Rev*, 14(2), 194-202 (1993)

50. W. Y. Chan and T. B. Ng: Effect of hypothyroidism induced by propylthiouracil and thiourea on male and female reproductive systems of neonatal mice. *J Exp Zool*, 273(2), 160-9 (1995)

51. E. N. Shiozaki, J. Chai, D. J. Rigotti, S. J. Riedl, P. Li, S. M. Srinivasula, E. S. Alnemri, R. Fairman and Y. Shi: Mechanism of XIAP-mediated inhibition of caspase-9. *Mol Cell*, 11(2), 519-27 (2003)

52. S. M. Srinivasula, S. Gupta, P. Datta, Z. Zhang, R. Hegde, N. Cheong, T. Fernandes-Alnemri and E. S. Alnemri: Inhibitor of apoptosis proteins are substrates for the mitochondrial serine protease Omi/HtrA2. *J Biol Chem*, 278(34), 31469-72 (2003)

53. Y. J. Kang, M. Jang, Y. K. Park, S. Kang, K. H. Bae, S. Cho, C. K. Lee, B. C. Park, S. W. Chi and S. G. Park: Molecular interaction between HAX-1 and XIAP inhibits apoptosis. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 393(4), 794-9 (2010)

54. J. Q. Cheng, X. Jiang, M. Fraser, M. Li, H. C. Dan, M. Sun and B. K. Tsang: Role of X-linked inhibitor of

apoptosis protein in chemoresistance in ovarian cancer: possible involvement of the phosphoinositide-3 kinase/Akt pathway. *Drug Resist Updat*, 5(3-4), 131-46 (2002)

55. M. Lettau, M. Paulsen, D. Kabelitz and O. Janssen: Storage, expression and function of Fas ligand, the key death factor of immune cells. *Curr Med Chem*, 15(17), 1684-96 (2008)

56. M. Voss, M. Lettau, M. Paulsen and O. Janssen: Posttranslational regulation of Fas ligand function. *Cell Commun Signal*, 6, 11 (2008)

57. H. C. Dan, M. Sun, S. Kaneko, R. I. Feldman, S. V. Nicosia, H. G. Wang, B. K. Tsang and J. Q. Cheng: Akt phosphorylation and stabilization of X-linked inhibitor of apoptosis protein (XIAP). *J Biol Chem*, 279(7), 5405-12 (2004)

58. J. Zhao, Y. Zhang, S. S. Ithychanda, Y. Tu, K. Chen, J. Qin and C. Wu: Migfilin interacts with Src and contributes to cell-matrix adhesion-mediated survival signaling. *J Biol Chem*, 284(49), 34308-20 (2009)

59. A. Bandyopadhyay, P. Roy and S. Bhattacharya: Thyroid hormone induces the synthesis of a putative protein in the rat granulosa cell which stimulates progesterone release. *J Endocrinol*, 150(2), 309-18 (1996)

60. C. Verga Falzacappa, E. Petrucci, V. Patriarca, S. Michienzi, A. Stigliano, E. Brunetti, V. Toscano and S. Misiti: Thyroid hormone receptor TRbeta1 mediates Akt activation by T3 in pancreatic beta cells. *J Mol Endocrinol*, 38(1-2), 221-33 (2007)

61. R. R. Hodges, Y. Horikawa, J. D. Rios, M. A. Shatos and D. A. Dartt: Effect of protein kinase C and Ca(2+) on p42/p44 MAPK, Pyk2, and Src activation in rat conjunctival goblet cells. *Exp Eye Res*, 85(6), 836-44 (2007)

62. E. L. Leung, J. C. Wong, M. G. Johlfs, B. K. Tsang and R. R. Fiscus: Protein kinase G type Ialpha activity in human ovarian cancer cells significantly contributes to enhanced Src activation and DNA synthesis/cell proliferation. *Mol Cancer Res*, 8(4), 578-91 (2010)

Abbreviations: CTL, control; DES, Diethylstilbestrol; ECL, chemiluminescence; EVTs, extravillous trophoblasts; FasL, Fas ligand; FBS, fetal bovine serum; FSH, folliclestimulating hormone; HRP, horseradish peroxidase; LY, LY294002; N-Src, Non-phospho-Src; p-Akt, phospho-Akt; p-Src, phospho-Src; PI3K, phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase; RT, room temperature; SH2, Src homology 2; t-Akt, total Akt; T3, triiodothyronine; TBS-T, Tris-buffered saline with tween; TH, thyroid hormone; TR, thyroid hormone receptor; TNF, tumor necrosis factor; TUNEL, terminal deoxynucleotidyltransferase-mediated dUTP nick-end labeling.

Key Words: thyroid hormone, FSH, granulosa cell, apoptosis, Xiap, Fas, Fas ligand, Src.

**Send correspondence to:** Guoliang Xia, State Key Laboratory for Agro-Biotechnology, College of Biological Science, China Agricultural University, Beijing 100193, Peoples' Republic of China, Tel: 86 10-6273-3456, Fax: 86 10-6273-3456, E-mail: glxiachina@sohu.com

http://www.bioscience.org/current/volE3.htm